Tasmanian Active Living Coalition Submission to Tasmanian Planning Policies Review (Phase 2)

June 2023



Tasmanian Active Living Coalition

activelivingcoalition@health.tas.gov.au



Tasmanian Planning Commission, GPO Box 1691, HOBART TAS 7001. tpc@planning.tas.gov.au

To The Tasmanian Planning Commission

Subject: Tasmanian Planning Policies Review (Phase 2)

Thank you for the opportunity to provide feedback on phase one of the Tasmanian Planning Policies Review (Phase 2). On behalf of members of the Tasmanian Active Living Coalition please find a consultation submission attached in response to Phase 2.

The Tasmanian Active Living Coalition works together to influence and inform policies, decisions and strategies encouraging the creation of active living environments, food security and social inclusion benefiting health and wellbeing.

TALC is also consulted by the Premier's Health and Wellbeing Advisory Council for its expert views on the above matters.

Yours sincerely

Associate Professor Verity Cleland TALC Chair (03) 6226 4603 verity.cleland@utas.edu.au

Date: 22 June 2023

Contents

Introduction	3
About the Tasmanian Active Living Coalition	3
Definitions	4
Active Living Overview	6
The Built Environment	6
Physical Activity	6
Liveability	8
Integrated Policies in Health and Wellbeing	9
TALC Recommendations on the Draft TPPs	
Section I.0 – Settlement	11
Section 1.0.2 Climate change statement	11
Section I.I Growth	11
Section 1.2 Liveability	12
Section 1.3 Social infrastructure	13
Section 1.5 Housing	14
Section 1.6 Design	14
3.0 Environmental Hazards	16
Section 3. 3 Flooding	
Section 5.0 – Physical Infrastructure	16
Section 5.0.2 Climate change statement	17
Section 5.3 Roads	17
Section 5.4 Passenger Transport Modes	18
Section 7.0 Planning Processes	18
Section 7.2 Strategic Planning	18
Other opportunities to support the intent of the TPPs	20
Infrastructure – State Policy and developer contributions	20
Travel plans	20
Strategic planning	21
References	22
Appendix A – TALC, Submission to Draft TPPs – Phase I, Nov 2022	25
Appendix B $-$ TALC, Tasmania's Planning System: Opportunities for Health and Wellbeing, 2021	26
Appendix C – TALC Submission to the 2022 Housing Strategy	27

Introduction

The Tasmanian Active Living Coalition (TALC) welcomes the opportunity to submit feedback on the Draft Tasmanian Planning Policies (TPPs).

The objective of TALC's submission is to embed health and wellbeing in the TPPs. TALC proposes this can be achieved by putting a 'health in all policies' lens on the TPPs and including improved or additional policy/policies supporting and promoting active living, access to open space, food security and social inclusion.

This submission follows on from previous relevant TALC publications and submissions, and is particularly relevant to the following (see Appendices A and B):

- Tasmanian Active Living Coalition, Submission to Draft TPPs Phase 1, November 2022
- Tasmanian Active Living Coalition, Tasmania's Planning System: Opportunities for Health and Wellbeing, 2021

The rationale and supporting evidence for the recommended amendments is detailed throughout the submission. Individual TALC members have contributed to this submission and may have also made separate submissions on behalf of their organisations.

This submission has been approved by TALC's Chair and endorsed by TALC's membership.

About the Tasmanian Active Living Coalition

TALC is an independent, not-for-profit coalition made up of representatives from a broad range of non-Government and Government organisations with an interest in active living. TALC members work together to influence and inform policies, decisions and strategies that encourage the creation of active living environments.

TALC's aim is to lead, support and promote the creation of environments supporting active living, and to add value by providing a mechanism for an integrated approach and potentially drive behaviour change in relation to active living.

TALC's purpose is to:

- Support the translation of evidence into policy and practice;
- build and strengthen new and existing partnerships to foster collaboration across sectors and within and across state and local government partnerships and develop new partnerships as required;
- raise the profile of active living; and

• support, advise and advocate for improvements in the policy, built and natural environments.

The principal interest of TALC is for the TPPs to enhance (and not hinder) active living (including physical activity and active travel) and access to healthy food for community health and wellbeing. Therefore, TALC advocates to have health and wellbeing as priority outcomes from land use planning as regulated through the Tasmanian Planning System.

Definitions

The following terms included in this submission are defined as

Active living - a way of life that integrates physical activity into daily routines (Heart Foundation, 2016).

Active travel/transport - travel modes that involve physical activity such as walking and cycling and includes the use of public transport that is accessed via walking or cycling and may allow for integration of multi-modal transport in the course of a day (Heart Foundation, 2016).

Built environment - the structures and places in which we live, work, shop, learn, travel and play, including land uses, transportation systems and design features (National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2017).

Food security - the ability of individuals, households, and communities to physically and economically access food that is healthy, sustainable, affordable, and culturally appropriate. The domains of food security include supply, demand, utilisation, and access (financial and physical) (Heart Foundation, 2016).

Health - a state of complete physical, mental, and social wellbeing and not merely the absence of disease (World Health Organization, 2022a).

Liveability - a liveable community is one that is safe, socially cohesive, inclusive, and environmentally sustainable. Highly liveable areas provide affordable housing that is well serviced by public transport, walking, and cycling infrastructure (Department of Agriculture Water and the Environment, 2021). They have good access to employment, education, shops and services, POSs, and social, cultural, and recreational facilities (Department of Agriculture Water and the Environment, 2021).

Physical activity - any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that requires energy expenditure encompassing all movement during leisure time, for transport to get to and from places, or as part of a person's work (World Health Organization, 2022b).

Social inclusion – is a term used to describe how government, community, business, services, and individuals can work together to make sure that all people have the best opportunities to enjoy life and do well in society. It is about making sure that no one is left out or forgotten in our community (Social Inclusion Unit, 2008).

Wellbeing – _mental health is a state in which an individual can realise their own potential cope with normal stresses, work productively and contribute to their community (World Health Organization, 2022a). ¹

¹ TALC acknowledges that Tasmania will likely develop its own definition of wellbeing as part of the development of Tasmanian Health and Wellbeing Framework.

Active Living Overview

The TPPs are a key mechanism for applying healthy planning principles to the built environment in Tasmania to create liveable locations which promote physical activity, healthy eating, and social connection. TALC provides the following overview of key aspects of active living which are directly related to development of the TPPs. TALC advocates for policies providing the implementation bridge between State Policies under the *State Policies and Projects Act 1993* and regional land use strategies and the Tasmanian Planning Scheme (TPS).

The Built Environment

The way the environment is planned, designed, and built can directly affect the health and wellbeing of people who use and inhabit the space. A series in The Lancet, one of the top-ranking medical journals in the world, *Urban Design and Transport to Promote Healthy Lives* recognises the importance of the built environment for active living (Goenka and Andersen, 2016). The series recommends creating compact cities that locate shops, schools, other services, parks, and recreational facilities, as well as jobs near homes, and providing highly connective street networks making it easy for people to walk and cycle to places (Goenka and Andersen, 2016). The Heart Foundation of Australia's *Healthy Active by Design* framework (National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2017) notes planning for active living calls for a commitment to applying healthy planning principles to all levels of the planning system, at every stage of the planning process and in every planning project and policy initiative' (National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2017).

There are many co-benefits of improving planning for active living including reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, improved air quality, reduced traffic congestion, more sustainable infrastructure, increased economic productivity, improved social capital and more liveable towns and cities (Goenka and Andersen, 2016).

The COVID-19 pandemic required people to stay close to home, further highlighting the importance of how the built environment can support health and wellbeing. The living with COVID-19 landscape provides a unique opportunity to prioritise the development of built environments supportive of health and wellbeing by embedding these principles within the TPP policies.

Physical Activity

Physical activity is fundamental for good physical and mental health and wellbeing. Physical activity can help prevent heart disease, type two diabetes, numerous cancers, dementia, weight gain, gestational diabetes, and anxiety and depression (Bellew et al., 2020). Being physically active improves sleep and improves brain function at all ages (Bellew et al., 2020).

Despite this, almost half of all Tasmanians aged 18 and over do not do enough physical activity for good health (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2016). Tasmania is below the national average and is ranked sixth out of the eight states and territories (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2016).

Internationally, the World Health Organization's *Global Action Plan on Physical Activity 2018-2030* has as one of its four key pillars a priority focus to 'create active environments' (World Health Organization, 2018). This includes strengthening the integration of urban and transport planning policies, delivering highly connected neighbourhoods to support active and public transport, improving walking, and cycling network infrastructure, accelerating implementation of policy actions to improve road and personal safety for active and public transport users, strengthening access to public and green open spaces, and strengthening policy, regulatory, and design guidelines and frameworks. The International Society for Physical Activity and Health recommend eight key investments to address physical inactivity (International Society for Physical Activity and Health, 2020). The eight investment areas are the evidence-based domains where Governments and organisations can get the best return on investment to improve health and wellbeing though increasing physical activity. Of the eight identified domains, those that can be directly influenced by the Tasmanian Planning Policies (TPPs) include: active travel, active urban design, and workplaces (International Society for Physical Activity and Health, 2020)

The Planning Institute of Australia (Tasmania) noted in their submission to the Tasmanian Planning Policies (TPPs) Scoping Paper the following which is supported by TALC:

On an international level, the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) were adopted as a "blueprint for a more sustainable future for all". While the SDGs are intended to be achieved by 2030, they provide a holistic summary of the elements which contribute to planning and building of sustainable communities. By aligning the TPPs with the relevant SDGs, this allows for the work of planners to contribute to a more sustainable world, and guidance of how planners can direct efforts to a more sustainable future in line with a coherent framework adopted by government and business alike.

Incorporation of SDGs into strategic planning is not novel in Australia; a recent example is Victoria's new Guidelines for Precinct Structure Planning, which interlinks the SDGs with planning principles. Similarly, the Tasmanian Government's recent commitment to the recommendations from the Premier's Economic & Social Recovery Advisory Council (PESRAC) demonstrates clear linkages to the aspects covered by the SDGs. In addition, the PESRAC report clearly recommends alignment of its Sustainability Vision with the SDGs and support for government wide adoption of the SDGs. (Planning Institute of Australia, 2021)

Nationally, the Heart Foundation's *Blueprint for an Active Australia* states 'reshaping the built environments in which most Australians live, work, learn and recreate can significantly increase daily physical activity levels. Community and neighbourhood design impacts on local walking, cycling and public transport use, as well as on recreational walking and physical activity' (National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2019). The Getting Australia Active III report identified eight policy domains for systems level action on physical activity, notably transport, the built environment, and workplaces (Bellew et. al., 2020).

It is within this context of national and international best practice evidence that TALC asserts the TPPs can make a powerful contribution to the health and wellbeing of the Tasmanian community. Other co-benefits of environments supporting physical activity include economic growth, strengthening communities, liveability, environmental sustainability/climate change mitigation, and safety.

Liveability

The Heart Foundation's 2020-21 What Australia Wants survey measured community sentiment around qualities of active neighbourhoods and support for initiatives to increase infrastructure for physical activity in and around neighbourhoods (National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2020). Tasmanians expressed a desire to live close to shops and amenities, and in a safe area that is quiet and away from main roads. Tasmanians prioritise access to healthy food, housing diversity and a sense of place (that is, safety, community, natural elements as the most important design features) (National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2020). The report noted only 31% of Tasmanians believe their neighbourhood helps them a lot in being active (National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2020). Support for government investment in active infrastructure (67%) and public transport funding (64%) was strong, as was support for speed limit reductions in neighbourhood streets (59%) was strong (National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2020). Being close to amenities, shops and services, safety/low crime, and having fresh food close by were important considerations for Tasmanians when deciding where to live. However, the results also indicate these attributes are not always accessible to Tasmanians and should be embedded within the planning system. The TPPs have the opportunity to shape all of these elements.

In 2021, Place Score ran the Australian Liveability Census, the largest social research project in Australia which included 3,200 records gathered from community members in Tasmania (Malshe et. al., 2021). The census explored what was most important in terms of neighbourhood liveability and current performance (Malshe et al., 2021). Ideas for improving local neighbourhoods were collected and included improving walkability to local amenities and open spaces (Malshe et al., 2021). Nationally, walking/jogging/bike paths that connect housing to community amenity was selected as

being most important to their ideal neighbourhood by 55 per cent of respondents, again highlighting the value placed on liveability and the built environment by communities.

Integrated Policies in Health and Wellbeing

Improving health and wellbeing by supporting Tasmanians to live active lives requires a coordinated approach across government agencies and sectors as called for in the World Health Organization's (WHO) 'Health in All Policies' approach to preventative health (World Health Organization, 2022c). In Tasmania, key existing policies which reference active living and are relevant to the TPPs are detailed as follows to provide context and background to the existing policy landscape.

The *Tasmania Statement* supports the connection between health and wellbeing enhanced by natural open spaces. It further notes the opportunities available as Tasmania grows to plan communities to create healthy, liveable, and connected spaces (Premier's Health and Wellbeing Advisory Council, 2021). The *Tasmania Statement* creates an authorising environment for those working within the Tasmanian Government to support health and wellbeing considerations within the planning scheme.

The Healthy Tasmania Five Year Strategic Plan 2022-26 advocates for a health in all policies approach, including an analysis of the systems outside the health sector which influence the health status of populations (Department of Health and Human Services, 2022). The plan focuses on systems and supporting active living initiatives, particularly through planning and building places that support health, wellbeing, and physical activity, and by building infrastructure that makes walking, cycling, accessibility, and public transport safe and viable alternatives to driving (Department of Health and Human Services, 2022). This builds on earlier work under Tasmania's Plan for Physical Activity 2011-2021 which aimed to 'create built and natural environments that enable and encourage physical activity (Department of Infrastructure, 2010).

TALC Recommendations on the Draft TPPs

TALC's feedback and recommendations pertaining to the updated draft TPPs are presented here. These recommendations follow on from the submission responding to phase-I of review of the draft TPPs in November 2022. In that submission we responded in detail to each of the relevant policies providing evidence-based context to our recommendations. In our review of this round of draft TPPs (phase 2) we consider how the TPPs have incorporated our initial round of recommendations and offer further considerations and recommendations where required. Consequently, we recommend reference to this first document which can be found in Appendix A.

TALC's interest in the TPPs is primarily related to the 'Settlement' and 'Physical Infrastructure' policies and 'Planning Processes' considerations, though there are also some suggestions for the 'Natural Hazards' policies. Detailed comments are provided under each policy area relevant to TALC's key objectives to encourage active lifestyles for human health.

Overall, TALC appreciates that there have been improvements to the first draft of TPPs and notes there has been good attention to the suggestions for improvements made from the first round of feedback. However, TALC is concerned about the following higher order planning system matters, in particular, how the TPPs will take effect in Regional Land Use Strategy (RLUS) planning and the Tasmanian Planning Scheme (TPS). We make the following suggestions:

- 1. The TPPs should seek to present an effective application bridge between State Policies, RLUS planning and the TPS as without this bridge the TPPs will be less effective than they could be. For example, it is noted that the TPPs appear in their own policy vacuum of State Policies with no recognition of the State Policy on Water Quality Management 1997 and the State Policy on the Protection of Agriculture Land 2009. In addition, whilst the State Coastal Policy is identified in the TPPs it is effectively limited to restating some of the coastal policy outcomes. These examples show a weak relationship between State Polices and TPPs.
- The individual policies comprising the TPPs should be tested in terms of how they can
 effectively be used in RLUS planning and the TPS. This testing could be by replacing words
 such as 'protect', 'support', 'facilitate' etc., with 'require'. Policies that do not meet this test
 should be revised.
- 3. The appearance of structure plans in the draft TPPs is questioned on the capacity for the planning regime to deal with another element in the planning system. Sufficient pointers as to what the Government is seeking on land use should ideally be capable of being delivered through existing statutory mechanisms unless there is significant investment in funding for structure planning to occur effectively.

Section 1.0 – Settlement

TALC offers the following comments and suggestions pertaining to this section.

We note that sections 'Growth' (1.1), 'Liveability' (1.2), and 'Social Infrastructure' (1.3) apply to both existing and future settlements, though exclude rural residential settlements. There is evidence that rural communities generally have lower incomes, lower educational attainment, higher unemployment, as well as poorer infrastructure in the built environment (such as that for walking, riding and access to green space). While it is acknowledged that many residents in rural residential settlements are there by preference, some rural residential communities (or very low density residential on urban fringes) are home for lower income communities with little choice and there should be a requirement for a greater level of infrastructure for enabling local active travel where possible. This is especially the case for lower density residential areas that are likely to increase in density over time. Therefore, TALC recommends acknowledgement of these circumstances and needs in the TPP 'Settlements' section.

Section 1.0.2 Climate change statement

The Climate Change statement in the Settlement Policy is appreciated. There are several co-benefits for public health in addressing climate change risk and promoting emission reduction through transport actions.

TALC recommends that the co-benefits for health and active travel should be mentioned more firmly in the statement on encouraging urban vegetation.

Paragraph 4 p.9:

'Encouraging urban vegetation contributes to carbon storage in the urban landscape and allows urban environments to better tolerate extreme heat events through providing shade and cleaner air, while urban vegetation also provides a range of other ecosystem services (i.e., stormwater management). These actions help to reduce the impact of climate change and, in doing so, also create liveable environments that support active use of the public realm.'

Section I.I Growth

With reference to strategy 1.1.3:

We are pleased to see that the mention of integration with existing transport systems has been placed higher in the list of strategies for planning for growth but the meaning of 'transport systems' in 1.1.3-2c and 3f should be clarified to include 'road, passenger and active travel' to ensure land use development does not simply focus on private motor vehicle transport as has been the tendency in the past.

Suggestions relating to 1.1.3-2c and 1.1.3-3f

- 2. Plan for growth that will:
 - c) integrate with existing transport systems (road, passenger, and active travel modes); and (1.1.3-2c)
- 3. Identify regional settlement hierarchies based on:f) efficient and accessible transport systems (road, passenger, and active travel modes); and (1.1.3-3f)

In addition to this emphasis, policy should also reflect the need for improved quality in integrated transport to support liveability. Further suggestions are made in section 5.0 on Physical Infrastructure.

Further, the word 'considers' in 1.1.3-6c is quite a weak word and thus open to structure plans not including that which might have been 'considered' even if it is reasonable. Point 1.1.3-6 is suggesting that minimum standards be established in structure plans. Therefore, we recommend using a stronger word than 'considers'.

Suggestion relating to 1.1.3-6c

- 6. Promote the preparation of structure plans that provide for the effective planning and management of land use and development within a settlement, or part of a settlement, that, as a minimum, includes:
 - c) movement networks, including street hierarchy and pedestrian and cycling paths for active travel;

Section 1.2 Liveability

With reference to strategy 1.2.3-2a:

2. Facilitate access to, and a diverse range of, employment opportunities in settlements by:
a) promoting the provision of, and access to, safe and efficient public transport (1.2.3-2a)

The strategy 1.2.3-2a needs to be supported by investment in public transport services in settlements, and where settlements are new, public transport and good quality active travel infrastructure and services provided early in development stages to provide a range of transport options for residents and workers. Without such investment early in settlement development, dominant motor vehicle-based travel behaviours are likely to become entrenched, after which it is difficult to alter travel behaviours and promote health through more active modes. Further opportunities regarding this issue are discussed on page 17 (section on State policy and developer contributions).

With reference to strategy 1.2.3-3b, TALC appreciates the clearer wording in this compared to early drafts in section statement 1.2.3-3. Regarding point 1.2.3-3b, TALC considers that such land uses (tertiary education/vocational training) should firstly be in places highly accessible by public transport (usually central areas) foremost. Some residential areas may be proximate and therefore should have good connectivity to these institutions, however, all Tasmanians, regardless of where they live or their socioeconomic circumstances, should be able to access tertiary and vocational training facilities. Stressing good accessibility by public transport is especially important to enhancing access to tertiary institutions for those of lower socioeconomic status which aligns with other State educational improvement objectives. TALC makes the following suggestion to reorder elements of the statement to emphasise the significance of access to public transport as a priority.

Suggestion relating to 1.2.3-3b

- 3. Support growth in the skilled workforce and increase opportunities for innovation, research, and technology by encouraging tertiary education and vocational training institutions to be located:
 - b) within close proximity of residential areas, or highly accessible by public transport in areas highly accessible by public transport foremost, and with good active travel connectivity to neighbouring residential areas. (1.2.3-3b)

In section 1.2.3-4 and 1.2.3-5 we recommend including safety where provision of accessible and connected open spaces and infrastructure is mentioned to support the encouragement of active mode choice.

Suggestions relating to 1.2.3-4 and 1.2.3-5:

- 4. Provide for a network of accessible, interlinked, safe, and inviting open and green spaces close to and within residential areas and activity centres to encourage active lifestyles, connection with nature and social interaction. (1.2.3-4)
- 5. Provide for connectivity within settlements, especially between residential areas, activity centres and open space networks, through a network of legible, safe, and accessible infrastructure dedicated to active travel modes, including end of trip facilities. (1.2.3-5)

TALC appreciates the promotion of place-making approaches mentioned in 1.2.3-11, as these approaches present the opportunity for integrated planning and design for quality outcomes.

Section 1.3 Social infrastructure

Section 1.3.3-1 references some social infrastructure (namely, schools, health care, libraries, social services and child and aged care). However, references could also be made to other social infrastructure that more explicitly relates to active living. For example, multi-use sports facilities,

public open spaces, and other recreation areas servicing population catchments such as district playing fields, neighbourhood ovals, neighbourhood parks/playgrounds, community centres and courts and skate facilities (SGS Economics and Planning 2019).

With an increasing emphasis upon urban infill and increased densities under the Greater Hobart Plan, provision of public open space is likely to become increasingly piecemeal. Although one-off sites may not be as effective in providing tree canopy cover and other vegetation as more substantial areas of public open space (i.e., Greenfield development), smaller pockets (i.e., neighbourhood parks) can contribute to liveability and active living, for example, through mitigation of the urban heat island effect (Dimoudia et al. 2013, Osmond et al. 2017). The placement of numerous, smaller vegetation patches can be more effective in cooling the surrounding urban landscape than larger but fewer vegetation patches. This is due to increased exchanges of energy with adjacent areas and alignment with wind flow to disperse cool air from vegetation (Yan et al. 2019, Zhang et al. 2019).

Section 1.5 Housing

Section 1.5.3-3 could be expanded upon to emphasise greater equity in housing provision to support health and wellbeing outcomes for a range of demographic cohorts. For instance, there is evidence that Tasmania has a higher proportion of people living with a disability and chronic illness (Campbell et al. 2021, Australian Bureau of Statistics 2018, Department of Health 2018). There are associations between these conditions and poorer quality of the built environment (Austin et al. 2011, Davison et al. 2012, Kirkpatrick et al. 2007). This could be through explicit statement of measures such as inclusionary zoning and other measures to increase affordable housing within areas of proximity to services and social infrastructure (incl. recreation areas), enabling improved health and cost of living outcomes. Measures to increase affordable housing are further offered in TALC's 2022 Housing Strategy submission (appendix C).

1.5.3-4c seeks to support quality of private open space. This should emphasise landscaping requirements and encourage lot configurations that support tree canopy cover through adequate spacing and soil zones to enable private open space to support liveability, such as environments amenable to mitigation of the urban heat island effect and seasonal produce.

Section 1.6 Design

TALC would like to see more mention of the need to design for people living with a range of abilities. The suggestion that this is the case is perhaps implied in the strategies, but it is not explicit and therefore runs the risk of not being considered important as development occurs. TALC also would like to see the strengthening of some strategy statements, shifting from passive words such as 'encourage', 'consider' or 'promote' to more active/action-oriented words that make it clearer that policies should be followed to their best intent rather than

simply considered. For instance, in strategy 8g 'safe access and egress for pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles' should be required, not just promoted.

Suggestions relating to 1.6.3-5, 1.6.3-6, 1.6.3-7, and 1.6.3-8:

- 5. Require public places that are designed to promote:
 - a) equal access and opportunity and to cater for the various needs and abilities of the community, including the needs of people living with a disability; and (1.6.3-5a)
- 6. Require subdivision design that considers the existing and future surrounding pattern of development and provides for connection and integration of street networks, pedestrian and bicycle paths and the efficient provision of services. (1.6.3-6)
- 7. Require subdivision design that provides a functional lot layout that:
 - c) supports efficient and effective public transport access;
 - d) provides safe active transport; (1.6.3-7c-d)
- 8. Require the design, siting, and construction of buildings to positively contribute to: g) safe access and egress for pedestrian, cyclists, vehicles, and disability mobility devices. (1.6.3-8g)
- I.6.3-3a seeks to reduce the impact of extreme heat conditions. In addition to urban greening other measures that ameliorate extreme heat conditions in the urban environment should also be incorporated, for instance, urban geometry of building forms and orientation of roads.

Suggestion relating to 1.6.3-3a:

- 3. Require sustainable design practices that are energy and resource efficient, address temperature extremes and reduce carbon emissions, including:
 - a) reduce the urban heat island effect by promoting the greening of streets, buildings and open space with vegetation, preferably native species where appropriate, and consideration of building and road infrastructure orientation and design.
- 1.6.3-7j refers to allowing passive surveillance of buildings, however, crime prevention through environmental design strategies could be referenced more broadly. For instance, designing subdivision roads to limit through traffic and designing well connected and visible walkways (NIBC 2018).

Suggestion relating to 1.6.3-7j

7. Require subdivision design that provides a functional lot layout that:

j) incorporates environmental design crime prevention principles allowing passive surveillance of public spaces promoting community safety; (1.6.3-7j)

3.0 Environmental Hazards

Section 3. 3 Flooding

The climate change statement identifies that storm surge is a key risk. Specifically, southeast Tasmania is projected to have greater vulnerability to storm surge compared to the north coast, presenting inundation impacts across the region. When combined with projected population growth in the Greater Hobart area, which will place pressure on land use through demand for new housing development (Jacobs et al. 2019) and public open spaces, the vulnerability is much enhanced.

There are opportunities to combine recreational activity with flood management measures at the interface of land with riparian areas and the sea, however (Zavar 2015), ensuring that recreational zones are not lost due to hazard risk assessment and instead well designed to consider flood risk, suitable context specific approaches should be considered that can provide dual recreation and tourism functions whilst guarding against storm surge and flooding (e.g., bermed parklands (DuPuis et al. 2019)), sustainable wetland management (Klein et al. 1998), and enlargement of river cross sections (Schultz et al. 2008). These hazard design considerations should be encouraged and reflected in wording under strategies in section 3.3.3. A suggested strategy statement is:

Suggested new 3.3.3-10

Developed well designed flood mitigation approaches that have social and environmental co-benefits such as the provision of recreation or tourism functions (e.g., guarding against storm surge through use of bermed parklands, and boardwalks on wetlands).

Section 5.0 – Physical Infrastructure

TALC notes that while the Physical Infrastructure TPPs refer to roads (section 5.3) and passenger transport modes (section 5.4) there is no dedicated section for active travel modes. For instance, infrastructure for public transport, walking and cycling modes may not always be most suited to routes allocated for road traffic and there may be circumstances when dedicated off-road spaces or routes may be safer, more efficient, and more pleasant. This will still require committed physical infrastructure (i.e., cycleways). Active travel infrastructure will be taken more seriously than it currently is if the TPPs included either a dedicated section for active travel or at least a statement

about the importance of active travel infrastructure, its co-benefits, the need for good integration with road and passenger infrastructure, and the need for quality infrastructure, then.

Further, active mode infrastructure also plays a role in the successful uptake of improved public transport services, especially in corridors of higher residential density where public transport services are most successful. Research has shown that the uptake of public and active travel modes (such as buses and cycleways) will not be achieved without attention to the quality of active mode infrastructure and services so that they deliver safety, comfort, proximity, and efficient connectivity. (Bauman et al. 2008, Dédelé et al. 2021, De Nazelle et al. 2011, Pucher et al. 2008). Importantly, improving active mode infrastructure is highly likely to improve land value uplift in designated public transport corridors. As sales prices of residential properties are higher in proximity to public transit corridors, government can capture a proportion of this value to reinvest in public transport (Mulley et al. 2016).

Further suggestions around the need for integrated transport infrastructure policy are made on page 17.

Section 5.0.2 Climate change statement

Regarding section 5.0.2 (Climate Change statement), a statement is made about the Physical Infrastructure TPP supporting 'the provision of well-planned and well-designed infrastructure that can reduce emissions and take advantage of emerging opportunities in a low-emissions future' (p.46) In the list of opportunities, 'better sharing of road space to support increased uptake of more sustainable transport modes' is offered as the last point.

This is the last point in a list of emission reducing opportunities, with most other points referring to road-based vehicles (freight and private transport). There is no mention of passenger transport infrastructure and the opportunity this provides (either improvement to the quality of the bus service network and/or opportunities to expand the passenger transport system to include other passenger modes in the future). The last point also assumes that active and passenger transport modes of transport (ones that are lowest in emissions) should also share the road corridors rather than have their own dedicated spaces alongside, or separate to, these corridors.

TALC recommends that mention of the opportunity afforded by improving passenger transport and enhancing active travel infrastructure also be included in this list of opportunities for a low-emission future. These also have complementary health, social, and economic efficiency benefits.

Section 5.3 Roads

TALC greatly appreciates that there is a strategy to provide for the upgrading of road infrastructure on key urban and local corridors to allocate space for public transport, walking and cycling. We

would like to add that consideration be made to the provision of dedicated spaces that maximize safety and minimize inter-mode conflict.

Suggestion relating to 5.3.3-5

5. Provide for new and upgraded road infrastructure on key urban and local corridors to allocate space for servicing infrastructure, and safe and efficient spaces for public transport, walking and cycling modes (5.3.3-5)

Section 5.4 Passenger Transport Modes

TALC greatly appreciates the intent of this policy and the improvements made to the strategies. We recommend the following suggestions to strengthen and clarify the meaning of the following two strategies and with the intent of being more specific about what entails a quality integrated passenger and active travel system, as discussed earlier.

Suggestions relating to 5.4.3-2, 5.4.3-3, and 5.4.3-6

- 2. Promote medium to high density development and mixed use in proximity to high frequency passenger transport corridors supported by active travel connectivity to neighbourhoods. (5.4.3-2)
- 3. Integrate land use with existing and planned passenger transport infrastructure and services and provide an active travel network within key urban areas that is integrated across State and local government networks, and which includes dedicated infrastructure, appropriate signage (including real time information), and end of trip facilities. (5.4.3-3)
- 6. Ensure public transport corridors are supported by active travel networks and bus stops that are safe, accessible, and provide for better passenger amenity, including for people living with a disability. (5.4.3-6)

Section 7.0 Planning Processes

Section 7.2 Strategic Planning

Section 5A (6) of the Land Use Planning and Approvals Act (LUPAA) requires that 'The Minister must keep all regional land use strategies under regular and periodic review.' In the last 10 years the regional land use strategies have not had a comprehensive review.

Consequently, to ensure the TPPs appropriately filter through to regional land use strategies to effectively deliver their intent according to current and emerging community needs, TALC advocates

comprehensive reviews of the current regional land use strategies as a matter of urgency following the endorsement of these TPPs, and from thereon, timely regular reviews.

Consequently, TALC suggests the following amendment to 7.2.3-8.

8. Ensure the regular review of land use strategies so that they remain current, adaptive, and responsive to planning issues as they arise. (7.2.3-8)

Other opportunities to support the intent of the TPPs and ensure that regional land use strategies are reviewed and kept up to date with economic, social, and environmental change, and community demands are suggested in the following section on page 19.

Other opportunities to support the intent of the TPPs

Infrastructure – State Policy and developer contributions

Fragmented land ownership and the significant cost of trunk infrastructure (including roads, pathways, cycleways, ferry terminals, bus stops, public parks etc) means it may not be feasible for any one developer, landowner, or government entity to fund the trunk infrastructure required to service the area. In other jurisdictions there are infrastructure contribution frameworks that provide for the cost of trunk infrastructure to be shared equitably between the users of the infrastructure based on forward planning (e.g., structure plans). Currently there is no infrastructure contributions framework in Tasmania. In the absence of an infrastructure contributions framework, it is generally a 'first user pays' system, which is costly and inequitable. There is a reluctance for first movers to invest in liveability elements if they are paying for utility infrastructure that will benefit future developers. There is also a lack of forward planning about what social infrastructure is needed in existing and greenfield development areas.

With respect to encouraging greater use of public transport and promoting healthy lifestyles enabled by good quality active travel infrastructure, investments in these services and infrastructure is essential. This is especially the case in new urban developments where good quality and well-connected services and infrastructure early on in development stages is known to influence travel behaviour, ensuring that the motor-vehicle option is not the only choice for residents or employees and facilitating active modes for short neighbourhood trips.

TALC recommends the State Government seriously consider the constraint on the delivery of liveable and sustainable urban environments without policy to support the development of infrastructure and improvement of public transport networks. An option to address the issue could be the creation of a State Policy that would direct more equitable infrastructure outcomes and costs.

Travel plans

Internationally, and in Victoria and NSW, travel plans can be required for major new residential developments or major site developments (i.e., employment/activity hubs) as part of the land use planning and approvals process. (De Gruyter, Rose & Currie, 2014). The aim is to manage car use of residents/employees by providing a package of initiatives and facilities that support the use of more sustainable forms of transport (initiatives may include car sharing facilities, limited and/or unbundled car parking, the offering of free public transport periods in early establishment stages of development, promotion of local transport options, and other rewards or incentives). Research has

demonstrated that residents living in developments with travel plans have lower car ownership and higher levels of walking and cycling compared with residents living in developments without travel plans. (De Gruyter, Rose & Currie, 2016). A survey of Victorian councils found that a key challenge for councils who wanted to encourage travel plans was the lack of supporting state planning policy. (De Gruyter, Rose & Currie, 2014).

TALC notes that travel plans, particularly for major developments, are not mentioned in the TPPs. We suggest that their value for major developments (whether site specific or large subdivision developments) be strongly considered as valuable tools in developing liveable, sustainable, and higher amenity settlements going forward.

Strategic planning

TALC's discussion paper, *Tasmania's Planning System: Opportunities for Health and Wellbeing* (see appendix B), raises several concerns about strategic land use planning. Regional land use strategies exist for the three Tasmanian regions (south, north, northwest). We understand these are due for review by the State Government after completion of the Tasmanian Planning Policies. TALC is concerned about the irregular and tardy review of these important strategies. As an example, the last Southern Tasmania Regional Land Use Strategy (STRLUS) was declared in 2011 and has not been updated since. The current STRLUS uses data from the 2006 ABS Census and therefore does not capture significant changes in the region in the intervening years (such as the impact of MONA, economic growth, population change, and housing demand and supply) which makes decision making about development and current and emerging community needs very difficult for councils.

Section 5A (6) of the Land Use Planning and Approvals Act (LUPAA) requires that 'The Minister must keep all regional land use strategies under regular and periodic review.' In the last 10 years the regional land use strategies have not had a comprehensive review.

In addition to the amendment to the TPP strategy statement 7.2.3-8, TALC suggests that consideration be made to legislate this requirement, amending the LUPAA to require the Minister review the regional land use strategies at least every five years.

References

Austin P, Gurran N, Whitehead, CME. (2014) Planning and affordable housing in Australia, New Zealand and England: common culture; different mechanisms. *Journal of Housing and the Built Environment*, 29, 455-472. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10901-013-9356-3

Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2016) Census of Population and Housing 2016.

Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2019) Higher rates of chronic health conditions in Tasmania https://www.abs.gov.au/articles/higher-rates-chronic-health-conditions-tasmania

Bauman A, Rissel C, Garrard J et al. (2008). *Cycling: Getting Australia Moving: Barriers, facilitators, and interventions to get more Australians physically active through cycling* (pp. 593-601). 31st Australasian Transport Research Forum. https://australasiantransportresearchforum.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/2008_Bauman_Rissel_Garrard_Ker_Spiedel_Fishman.pdf

Bellew B, Nau T, Smith B, Bauman A (Eds). (2020) *Getting Australia Active III: A systems approach to physical activity for policy makers*. Sydney, Australia. The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre and The University of Sydney.

Campbell SL, Remenyi T, Williamson GJ, Rollins D, White CJ, Johnston FH. (2021) Ambulance dispatches and heatwaves in Tasmania, Australia: A case-crossover analysis. *Environmental Research*, 202, p.111655. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.111655

Dėdelė A, Miškinytė A. (2021) Promoting sustainable mobility: a perspective from car and public transport users. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 18(9), 4715. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18094715

De Gruyter C., Rose G., Currie G. (2014) Securing travel plans through the planning approvals process: A case study of practice from Victoria, Australia. *Cities*, 41(Part A), 114-https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2014.06.003

De Gruyter C., Rose G., & Currie G. (2016). Travel Plans for New Residential Developments: Measuring Self-Selection Effects to Better Understand Travel Behaviour Impacts. *Transportation Research Record*, 2564(1), 60–69. https://doi.org/10.3141/2564-07

De Nazelle A, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Antó JM et al. (2011) Improving health through policies that promote active travel: a review of evidence to support integrated health impact assessment. *Environment international*, 37(4), 766-777. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2011.02.003

Dept. of Agriculture, Water, and the Environment. (2021) Australia - State of the Environment 2021. Commonwealth of Australia.

Dept. of Health. (2022) The State of Public Health - Tasmania 2018, Tasmanian Government.

https://www.health.tas.gov.au/sites/default/files/2022-03/The_State_of_Public_Health_Tasmania_2018_DoHTasmania2018.pdf

Dept. of Health and Human Services. (2022) *Healthy Tasmania Five Year Strategic Plan* 2022-26. Government of Tasmania.

Dept. of Infrastructure. (2010) *Tasmanian Walking and Cycling for Active Transport Strategy*. Government of Tasmania.

Dimoudi A, Kantzioura A, Zoras S, Pallas C, Kosmopoulos P. (2013) Investigation of urban microclimate parameters in an urban center. *Energy and Buildings*, 64, 1-9.

DuPuis EM, Greenberg M. (2019) The right to the resilient city: Progressive politics and the green growth machine in New York City. *Journal of Environmental Studies and Sciences*, 9, 352-363. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13412-019-0538-5

Gethin D, Gurran N, Van den Nouwelant R et al. (2012) Affordable housing, urban renewal, and planning: emerging practice in Queensland, South Australia, and New South Wales. AHURI. https://doi.org/10.26190/unsworks/54

Goenka S, and Anderson L. (2016) Urban Design and transport to promote heathy lives. *The Lancet*, 388(10062). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31580-X

Heart Foundation. (2016) Representation to the final draft State Planning Provisions. Tasmania.

International Society for Physical Activity and Health. (2020) ISPAH's Eight Investments That Work for Physical Activity. ISPAH. https://ispah.org/resources/key-resources/8-investments/

Jacobs K, Flanagan K, Verdouw J, Denny L. (2019) *Tasmanian Housing Update*, Housing and Community Research Unit, University of Tasmania.

Kirkpatrick JB, Daniels GD, Zagorski T. (2007) Explaining variation in front gardens between suburbs of Hobart, Tasmania, Australia. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 79 (3-4), 314-322. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2006.03.006.

Klein RJ, Smit MJ, Goosen H et al. (1998) Resilience and vulnerability: coastal dynamics or Dutch dikes? *Geographical Journal*, 259-268.

Malshe A, Vann G, Baig J, Legge K, et al. (2021) State of Place 2021 - Australian Liveability Census. Place Score. [online] https://www.placescore.org

Mulley C, Tsai CHP. (2016) When and how much does new transport infrastructure add to property values? Evidence from the bus rapid transit system in Sydney, Australia. *Transport Policy*, 51, pp.15-23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2016.01.011

National Heart Foundation of Australia. (2017) *Healthy Active by Design*. National Heart Foundation of Australia. [online] https://www.healthyactivebydesign.com.au

National Heart Foundation of Australia. (2019) Blueprint for an active Australia. *National Heart Foundation of Australia*. [online] https://www.heartfoundation.org.au/getmedia/6c33122b-475c-4531-8c26-7e7a7b0eb7c1/Blueprint-For-An-Active-Australia.pdf

National Heart Foundation of Australia. (2020) What Australia Wants — Living locally in walkable neighbourhoods. National Heart Foundation of Australia, 20 Nov 2020. [online] https://www.heartfoundation.org.au/media-releases/what-australia-wants

National Institute of Building Sciences. (2018) *Building Resilience: Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design*. In: The Whole Building Design Guide https://www.wbdg.org/resources/crime-prevention-environmental-design

Osmond P, Sharifi E. (2017) *Guide to Urban Cooling Strategies*. Low Carbon Living CRC, UNSW. https://www.lowcarbonlivingcrc.unsw.edu.au/sites/all/files/publications_file_attachments/rp2024_guide to urban cooling strategies 2017 web.pdf

Premier's Health and Wellbeing Advisory Council. (2021). Tasmania Statement - Working Together for the Health and Wellbeing of Tasmanians. Government of Tasmania.

Pucher J, Buehler R. (2008) Making cycling irresistible: lessons from the Netherlands, Denmark, and Germany. *Transport reviews*, 28(4), 495-528.

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/01441640701806612

Schultz B. (2008) Water management and flood protection of the polders in the Netherlands under the impact of climate change and man-induced changes in land use. *Journal of water and land development*, 12, 71-94.

SGS Economics & Planning. (2019) Ginninderry Community Needs Assessment

 $\frac{https://ginninderry.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/20180525-Ginninderry-Community-Needs-Assessment-190130.pdf}{}$

Social Inclusion Unit. (2008) A Social Inclusion Strategy for Tasmania: a consultation paper. In: CABINET, D.O.P.A. (ed.).

World Health Organization. (2018) Global action plan on physical activity 2018–2030: more active people for a healthier world. Geneva: World Health Organization. [online] https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241514187

World Health Organization. (2022a) *Health and well-being*. [online] https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/major-themes/health-and-well-being

World Health Organization. (2022b) *Physical activity*. [online] https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/physical-activity

World Health Organization. (2022c) Promoting Health in All Policies and intersectoral action capacities. [online] https://www.who.int/activities/promoting-health-in-all-policies-and-intersectoral-action-capacities

Yan J, Zhou W, Jenerette GD. (2019) Testing an energy exchange and microclimate cooling hypothesis for the effect of vegetation configuration on urban heat. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 279, p.107666. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2019.107666

Zavar E. (2015) Residential perspectives: the value of Floodplain-buyout open space. *Geographical Review*, 105(1), 78-95.

Zhang Z, Meerow S, Newell JP, Lindquist M. (2019) Enhancing landscape connectivity through multifunctional green infrastructure corridor modelling and design. *Urban forestry & urban greening*, 38, pp.305-317.

Appendix A – TALC, Submission to Draft TPPs – Phase I, Nov 2022





Appendix B – TALC, Tasmania's Planning System: Opportunities for Health and Wellbeing, 2021





Appendix C – TALC Submission to the 2022 Housing Strategy



